Improving the Delivery of Therapeutic Agents: Creating Enhanced siRNA Carriers using Block Copolymers



A Major Qualifying Project submitted to the faculty of Worcester Polytechnic Institute in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science

Christina M. Bailey

Advised by: Professor Terri A. Camesano

April 29, 2015

This report represents the work of WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of completion of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on its website without editorial or peer review. For more information about the projects program at WPI, please see http://www.wpi.edu/academics/ugradstudies/project-learning.html

Abstract

Effective therapeutic delivery with carriers that easily complex, have low cellular toxicity, and have specified stability and disassembly mechanisms are ideal qualities in order to achieve ideal drug performance. A therapeutic that enables gene interference, short interfering RNA (siRNA), is currently being utilized in some clinical trials; however, limitations exist, such as their negative charge and short half-life in the body, with using siRNA. siRNA contains 21 base pairs and is negatively charged, resulting in a short half-life in the body making delivery carriers a necessity. Block copolymers have the ability to complex with siRNA and form micelles. These micelles have previously shown promise for drug delivery. The goal of this study was to assemble micelles of siRNA complexed a with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) – poly-L-lysine (PLL) block copolymer and to investigate the disassembly and stability kinetics of the particles.

Anionic siRNA complexes with cationic PLL molecules through a self-assembly process. Micellization was confirmed using dynamic light scattering, which measured the particles to have a diameter of 70 nm. Two Alexa Flour molecules, Alexa Flour594 and Alexa Flour647, were included on the 5' end of identical siRNA sequences in order to perform Förster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) assay, which is where excitation is transferred from a donor molecule to an acceptor molecule without emission of a photon, to determine incorporation of siRNA within the micelles and the kinetics of the system when in a bulk buffer solution. FRET was achieved at charge neutral 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL. Micelle assembly measured over a period of time demonstrated their stability when in their bulk buffer condition. Since naked siRNA degrades in the body within minutes, micelle stability is essential to ensure effective siRNA delivery.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Terri A. Camesano, Dean of Graduate Studies and Professor of Chemical Engineering at Worcester Polytechnic Institute, for providing many opportunities in research. I am grateful for her support throughout my undergraduate education and providing many experiences to disseminate our work. I would also like to thank all of the members of the Camesano lab group, especially including Lindsay Lozeau, Prachi Gupta, Todd Alexander, Elaheh Kamaloo, and Sarah El Abbouni for their help, support, and guidance. This research could not have been executed without the collaboration of Dr. Ramanathan Nagarajan at the Natick Soldier Research, Development & Engineering Center in Natick, MA. I would like to thank him for helpful conversations, guidance throughout the entire project, and equipment usage at the Natick Soldier labs. I would like to thank Jason Soares at the Natick Solider labs and members of the Nagarajan lab group, including Sarah Cameron, Kathleen Wang, Molly Clay, Paola D'Angelo, and Chris Zoto.

Authorship

I certify that I am the primary author of all content in this report.

Table of Contents

1.0 Introduction and Literature Review	.1
2.0 Materials and Methods	5
2.1 Short Interfering Ribonucleic Acid (siRNA)	5
2.2 Poly(ethylene glycol) - Poly-L-lysine (PEG-PLL) Block Copolymer	5
2.3 Micelle Formation	6
2.4 Förster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) Analysis	7
3.0 Results	8
3.1 Dynamic light scattering shows micelle formation	8
3.2 FRET observed with a stable mechanism	9
3.2.1 Intensity Ratios	11
3.2.2 Kinetics	12
4.0 Discussion	13
4.1 Micelles formed drug delivery vehicles	13
4.2 FRET shows micelle assembly characteristics	14
4.2.1 Kinetics demonstrate micelle stability	15
5.0 Conclusions	16
6.0 Future Work	17
References	19
7.0 Supplementary Material	21
7.1 Micelle Preparation	21
7.2 Micelle Formation Sample Calculations	22
7.3 Plate Dilution for FRET Assay	24

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic of siRNA emission at an excitation of 540 nm	8
Figure 2: Dynamic light scattering size distribution by intensity	9
Figure 3: Microplate readings at a wavelength emission range of 575 - 725 nm	10
Figure 4: FRET with 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL micelles	11
Figure 5: Kinetic Results for 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL micelles	13

Table of Tables

Table 1: Intensity Ratios	12
Table 2: Supplementary Material Micelle Formation	21
Table 3: Supplementary Material Micelle Formation (continued)	21
Table 4: Supplementary Material Preparation in HEPES for FRET	24

1.0 Introduction and Literature Review

Short interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA) was studied following Fire and Mello's¹ mechanistic discovery of RNA interference (RNAi).² Since RNAi was discovered in 1998, siRNA has been used in over 30 early stage clinical trials with 21 drugs.² siRNA's ability to inhibit gene expression leading to diseases has the promise for advancing therapeutics within the clinic. For example, Kim et al. has studied polyelectrolyte complexes of dextran-siRNA in tumors of mice, resulting in better targeted delivery with the complexes opposed to naked siRNA.³ Similarly, another study utilized rat models with malignant gliomas.⁴ When treated with siRNA encapsulated in block copolymer delivery vehicles, there was observable tumor shrinkage in comparison to the untreated and naked siRNA.⁴ Another example is a drug involving siRNA in dendritic cells being investigated to target immunoporteasome subunits in metastatic melanoma via transfection.² The ability for complexed siRNA to achieve more effective delivery than naked siRNA is the groundwork for this current study.

siRNA contains at least 21 base pairs, is double stranded, and is negatively charged. Its hydrophobicity and negative charge makes naked siRNA non-ideal for transportation in the body.⁵ For example, the half-life of naked plasmid DNA (p-DNA) in the blood is only minutes.⁵⁻⁶ Additionally, the negative charge promotes siRNA to become degraded by nucleases found in serum and to have low cellular uptake.^{5, 7} As a result, delivery agents such as viral vectors and block copolymers have been investigated to transport siRNA.^{5, 7} The use of viral gene delivery, however, is limited due to safety factors for their use in clinical trials such as antigenicity and oncogenicity as well as quality control difficulties.⁷⁻⁹ Alternatively, block copolymers have shown efficient transfection, safety, and high productivity as delivery mechanisms for siRNA.^{5, 7}

Block copolymers are considered one of the most promising candidates for non-viral gene delivery systems. They are beneficial for their low cellular toxicity and ease in complexing.⁷ For example, Oba studied a polyplex micelle formed of poly(ethylene glycol)-polycation (PEG-polycation) block copolymers containing pDNA and siRNA.⁷ This study utilized disulfide crosslink bonds within the micelle to demonstrate the stability of the micelle in the extracellular milieu (glutathione at 10 μM) and the release of pDNA/siRNA from the micelle in the intracellular milieu (simulated using glutathione at 10 mM).⁷ In another investigation by Harada-Shiba et al. a block copolymer consisting of poly-L-lysine (PLL) and poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) with pDNA were tested both *in vitro* and *in vivo* for their use as vectors for gene therapy.¹⁰ Results from this investigation showed that micelles with longer PLL chains (48 mer) have greater stability in the blood, which suggested that the binding between DNA and PLL is important for the overall micelle stability.¹⁰

In this previous study conducted by Harada-Shiba et al., the importance of micelle stability prior to cellular uptake was a key factor while interacting with different components in the blood, such as IgM, fibrinogen, and fibronectin.¹⁰⁻¹¹ The extracellular milieu plays a significant role during the delivery process of siRNA to a targeted site and is a critical interaction for delivery agents. Large NPs exceeding a diameter of 500 nm may not be successfully internalized by the cell.⁵ A recent review describes the challenges of delivering siRNA NPs through the blood even prior to reaching the targeted cell, such as clearance by the mononuclear phagocytic system.⁵ The ultimate goal for a carrying agent in the extracellular milieu is protection from degradation enzymes.⁵ An outer modification with PEG results in increased circulation time due to its hydrophilic and flexible characteristics.⁵ However, additional measures may be needed to then ensure complete and successful intracellular delivery through the endocytic compartments and

cytosol and release once reaching the nucleus.⁵ Block copolymers are ideal for such an application because of their controllability and modification abilities.

Once vehicles for delivery have been synthesized, the arrangement of siRNA within the complex is another crucial factor to consider for the most efficient delivery. Historically, studies have complexed siRNA within the core of the particle unit, where it can be protected by outer shell polymer units.^{7, 10} However, a recent study demonstrated the effects of 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) on siRNA chemisorbed to the surface of gold nanoparticles (NPs).¹² FBS contains a plethora of molecules that easily degrade siRNA, including nucleases. This study suggested the rate of degradation of chemisorbed siRNA by serum nucleases was dependent primarily on siRNA sequence;¹² however, particle degradation is influenced by the polymer, lipid, or other encapsulating agent when the siRNA resides at the core of the delivery complex (for examples see ¹³⁻¹⁴). The importance of circulation time in the blood demonstrates both the need for a high level of controllability and new methods to encapsulate siRNA and study its degradation properties.

In order to acquire a better quantitative understanding of the kinetic release of siRNA from its carrier, Alabi et al. developed siRNA-probes using Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) analysis.¹³⁻¹⁴ FRET allows for a quantitative study of molecular assembly through a distancedependent assay, where excitation is transferred from a donor molecule to an acceptor molecule. Utilizing these probes of siRNA containing Alexa Flour fluorescent units, Alabi et al. investigated fluorescently labelled siRNA encapsulated with branched polyethylene imine (b-PEI), Lipofectamine RNAiMax, and with lipidoid NPs.¹³⁻¹⁴ The sense and antisense strands were both labelled with Alexa Fluor 594 and 647 agents. When the siRNA duplexes were encapsulated within the NP, the FRET signal was "on," showing a fluorescent signal, and when

3

the particle would disassemble, the FRET signal turned "off."¹³⁻¹⁴ Microplate assays as well as incubation with HeLa cells demonstrated the use of these fluorescently labelled probes for quantifying the extent of siRNA NP disassembly.¹³⁻¹⁴

In the current study, we utilized these FRET-labelled probes to encapsulate within a block copolymer. The block copolymer chosen to complex with the siRNA is a PEG-PLL polymer with a PLL length of 50 mer, which has been shown to be a stable delivery agent.¹⁰ PLL is a common cationic polymer used for delivering agents such as siRNA and nucleic acids to improve transfection efficiency and reduce toxicity.¹⁵⁻¹⁶ PEG is also often added to biomaterials to increase biocompatibility, improve solubility in NP complexes, and reduce cell toxicity.¹⁵⁻¹⁶ The goal of this work is to quantify the release kinetics of siRNA using FRET assays from a block copolymer which is suited as a delivery vehicle.

The first aim of this study was to form micelles complexing anionic siRNA with cationic PLL, leaving an outer shell of PEG. To ensure micelles were formed properly at charge neutralization, dynamic light scattering was performed, which measures the size of the particles. Once micelles were formed, the assembly of the siRNA within the block copolymer was measured using FRET assay and the system kinetics were investigated. Ultimately, the long term goal of this project is to be able to manipulate characteristics such as size and concentration of the micelles by altering properties of the block copolymer to achieve the most effective delivery. The assays and initial trials performed in this study set the groundwork for these future alterations.

2.0 Materials and Methods

2.1 Short Interfering Ribonucleic Acid (siRNA)

siRNA duplexes (HPLC purified) were purchased from Integrative DNA Technologies (IDT) (Coralville, IA). The 5' end of the sense strand was labeled with either Alexa Fluor594 or Alexa Fluor647 dyes.¹³⁻¹⁴ The sequences are: (sense) 5'-Alexa594-

GAUUAUGUCCGGUUAUGUAUU-3', (sense) 5'-Alexa647-

GAUUAUGUCCGGUUAUGUAUU-3' and (antisense) 5'-

UACAUAACCGGACAUAAUCUU-3^{1,13-14} The molecular weight obtained for siRNA Alexa Flour594 (siAF594) and siRNA Alexa Flour (siAF647) were 13,747 Da and 13,882 Da, respectively. siRNA duplexes were stored in nuclease free duplex buffer purchased from IDT at concentrations of 7.7 nmoles/mL (equivalent to 107 µg/mL) at -20°C. The maximum amount of freeze-thaw cycles the duplexes can go through is 5, thus the stock concentration was aliquotted to reduce the number of freeze-thaw cycles. Once an aliquot was removed from the freezer, it was stored at 7°C, where the solution is stable for up to 14 months. The duplexes were stored separately. Precautions were taken to ensure photobleaching did not occur, and the siRNA molecules were stored in light impenetrable containers. Prior to micelle formation, siAF594 and siAF647 were mixed at a 1:1 molar ratio.

2.2 Poly(ethylene glycol) - Poly-L-lysine (PEG-PLL) Block Copolymer

PEG-PLL was purchased from Alamanda Polymers (Huntsville, AL) with a molecular weight of 28,000 Da. The molecular weight corresponds to 454 ethylene glycol repeat units, which have a molecular weight of 20,000 Da and 50 L-lysine hydrochloride repeat units, which have a molecular weight of 8,200 Da. The block copolymer was formed at a concentration of 1 mg/mL in HEPES buffer (20 mM, pH 7.4)¹⁰, which was purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

2.3 Micelle Formation

Micelles were formed through achieving charge neutrality between the anionic siRNA and cationic PLL units. The basis to calculate this is determining the amount of negativelycharged phosphate groups in the siRNA concentration and then the amount of positively-charged nitrogen units needed by the PLL to create a charge neutrality.

Each base pair of siRNA contains one phosphate unit (P unit). Since siAF594 and siAF647 are duplexes, there are 21 base pairs in the sense strand and 21 base pairs in the antisense strand creating a phosphate total of 42 P units/nmoles. At a concentration of 7.7 nmol/mL, there are 323 P units/mL. For a volume of 5 μ L of one siRNA duplex, the amount of P units would be 1.6. To form the micelles, a 1:1 molar ratio of siAF594 and siAF647 were mixed together. 5 μ l of siAF594 is mixed in proportion with 5 μ l of siAF594 to obtain a total of 3.2 P units within this solution.

To calculate the amount of PEG-PLL needed to micellize with this amount of siRNA to create charge neutrality, the amount of nitrogen units (N units) in 1 mg/mL of solution was first calculated. With a molecular weight of 28,000 g/mol and a 1 mg/mL concentration, there are 35.7 nmol/mL in the PEG-PLL solution. With 50 PLL units, there are 1,786 N units/mL. Knowing how many N units are present in 1 mL, and that the necessary amount of N units to achieve charge neutrality is 3.2 N units, a proportion can be set up to calculate the volumetric amount necessary for 3.2 N units. This amount was calculated to be 1.8 µl. Detailed calculations showing a step-by-step procedure can be seen in the Supplementary Materials 7.1 and 7.2.

Given these calculations, the final volume ratio required to achieve charge neutrality and for micelle formation to occur is 5 μ l of siAF594, 5 μ l of siAF647, and 1.8 μ l of PEG-PLL. The siRNA duplexes are mixed together first by pipetting up and down. The polymer is then added to this solution and then pipetted up and down several times to ensure thorough mixing throughout. This study did not require the utilization of a quencher molecule due to the siRNA encapsulation within the PEG-PLL complex.

Dynamic light scattering using a Malvern Instrument with Zetasizer software was used to ensure micelles were formed (see results, section 3.1). This technique has been utilized by previous studies for determining micelle size.¹⁷ A low-volume quartz batch cuvette was used to obtain measurements with minimal amount of micelle solution necessary. The low-volume quartz batch cuvette needed a volume of 0.40 μ L of micelles in order to fill the window properly. 2-3 replicates were performed for each measurement.

2.4 Förster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) Analysis

FRET was performed using a SpectraMAX GeminiXS with SOFTmax Pro software. Black polystyrene 96 well optical bottom plates that were non-treated were purchased from Fisher Scientific. Experiments were performed using a 500 nM concentration of siRNA diluted in bulk HEPES buffer. The working volume contained in each well was 150 μL. For more details on plate dilution see Supplementary Material 7.3.

FRET is described as the energy transfer between a donor molecule to another acceptor molecule when the two are in close proximity, such as when they are in their micellized state. If not micellized, FRET is unlikely to take place due to the space between the donor and acceptor molecules (Fig 1a). In the current study, the siAF594 molecule is the donor as it is excited at a wavelength of 540 nm. If in close enough proximity, it will donate some of its emission energy to the siAF647 molecule, which will then also demonstrate emission (Fig 1b).



Figure 1: Schematic of siRNA emission at an excitation of 540 nm

(a) siAF594 (red) and siAF647 (grey) coexist in a system without micellization. siAF594 emits energy at an excitation of 540 nm (as shown by a star). siAF647 does not demonstrate an emission at this wavelength. (b) When siAF594 and siAF647 are micellized together they are in close enough proximity for siAF594 to donate some of its emission energy to siAF647, which then also emits energy.

If the micelles are in a stable state, the emission from the donor molecule would be present, but at a low intensity value. There would be little change over time if the micelles remained intact and did not degrade or disassemble. If disassembly occurred, it is likely that the emission from the donor molecule would become more intense, due to no longer being enclosed. Disassembly is a mechanism observable over time by a kinetics assay, with intensity changes likely occurring over a time period.

3.0 Results

3.1 Dynamic light scattering shows micelle formation

Dynamic light scattering was performed using a Malvern Instrument in order to ensure micelles were formed properly and at a size of interest for drug delivery studies. Size distribution by intensity showed a uniform peak at 100% intensity having a size of 55.15 radial nm and width of 35.63 r.nm (Fig. 2). Z-average results showed micelles formed with a diameter of 70 nm.





The size distribution intensity curve peaked at a radial size of 55.15 nm with 100.0% intensity and a radial width of 35.63 nm. Z-average results indicate a diameter size of 70 nm.

3.2 FRET observed with a stable mechanism

Control experiments were performed to first set a baseline to establish where the natural emission peaks for siAF594 and siAF647 were when alone in solution (Fig. 3a). When siAF594 was in a HEPES buffer environment, the emission peaked at a wavelength of 620 nm. When siAF647 was in a HEPES buffer environment, emission peaked at a wavelength of 670 nm. Further, to ensure the PEG-PLL solution had no auto fluorescence, an emission reading was taken at an excitation of 540 nm (Fig. 3b). No energy emission was observed, thus the polymer alone does not have fluorescent capabilities.

siAF594 and siAF647 were then mixed together at a charge-neutral 1:1 molar ratio; however, were not yet micellized and only in a HEPES buffer condition (Fig. 3c). The emission energy wavelength spectrum demonstrated a clear peak at 620 nm from the donor siAF594 molecule, and a minor insignificant shoulder at 670 nm. When compared to siAF594 and siAF647 micellized at a non-charge neutral 1:10 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL, the results are similar, and almost identical, with one major peak at 620 nm (Fig 3d).



Figure 3: Microplate readings at a wavelength emission range of 575 - 725 nm Solutions were excited at a 540 nm wavelength for each trial. (a) Pure siRNA control with siAF594 (blue) and siAF647 (purple). Each siRNA probe was run separately from the other to obtain their natural emission peak when excited at 540 nm. siAF594 emission peaked at 620 nm and siAF649 peaked at a wavelength of 670 nm. (b) PEG-PLL with no siRNA present. (c) siAF594 and siAF647 together in HEPES solution not micellized with PEG-PLL. (d) 1:10 molar ratio complexation of siRNA:PEG-PLL.

When micelles were formed at a 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL, creating charge neutrality within the complex, and exposed with the HEPES buffer condition, FRET was achieved (Fig. 4). An emission peak at 620 nm is observed as well as a distinct shoulder peak at 670 nm, indicating a donor-acceptor relationship occurring.



Figure 4: FRET with 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL micelles Observed emission energy peaks at wavelengths of 620 nm and 670 nm.

3.2.1 Intensity Ratios

Intensity ratios were calculated by dividing the relative fluorescent unit (RFU) at a wavelength of 670 nm by the RFU at 620 nm (Table 1). When siAF594 was in a HEPES buffer condition, the intensity ratio was the lowest, at 0.25, and when siAF647 was in a HEPES buffer condition, the intensity ratio was the highest, at 36.8. These are the boundary conditions set by the two fluorescent molecules acting alone. When siAF594 and siAF647 were together in solution but not micellized, the intensity ratio was calculated to be 0.37, which is similar to the 0.4 intensity ratio with a 1:10 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL. The 1:1 molar ratio of

siRNA:PEG-PLL was calculated to be 0.61, which is higher than the non-micellized due to the donation of energy emission to the siAF647, resulting in a peak at a 670 nm wavelength.

Table 1: Intensity Ratios					
Experiment	1670/1620				
siAF594 in HEPES	0.25				
siAF647 in HEPES	36.8				
siAF594 and siAF647 in HEPES no PEG- PLL	0.37				
1:10 siRNA:PEG-PLL	0.4				
1:1 siRNA:PEG-PLL	0.61				

FRET for the 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL was measured over a time period of approximately 2 hours with measurements at five different time points (Fig. 5). These measurements allowed for the determination of siRNA release from the micelle or the stability of the micelle over a period of time. The intensity ratio was plotted versus time, which demonstrated that over a length of time the intensity ratio was unchanged. One replicate has been performed thus far.



Figure 5: Kinetic Results for 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL micelles The intensity ratio I_{670}/I_{620} was plotted for each time point measured. The kinetics of the system remained constant over the course of ~ 2 hours of measurements.

4.0 Discussion

4.1 Micelles formed drug delivery vehicles

Micelles have high colloidal stability due to the hydrophilic relationship between the PEG and PLL polymers.¹⁸ When the siRNA is encapsulated and complexed with the PLL unit, studies have proposed the possibility of a more toroidal shape forming opposed to a spherical shape due to the nature of the double stranded RNA complex.¹⁸⁻¹⁹ This shape is important to note when thinking about their delivery mechanisms. It has been shown that there is a dependence on the chain length of the hydrophobic unit on the size of the micelle complex. Studies have suggested that the size of the micelle is more strongly affected by the nonionic hydrophilic component of the polymer.^{18, 20} Thus, both the PEG at a MW of 20,000 g/mol and the 50 unit PLL influences the size at which micelles form.

Micelle size was measured using DLS to complex with a size of 70 nm in diameter with a distinct and uniform peak. Previous studies have investigated similar PEG-PLL complexations with DNA therapeutics, achieving similar sizes. Kataoka et al. synthesized polyion complex (PIC) micelles with a mixture of plasmid DNA (pGL3-Control) and PEG-PLL (48 mer) block copolymer.¹⁰ At a 1:1 ratio of DNA:PLL, the diameter of the PIC micelles formed at 121.0 nm.¹⁰ Another study utilizing a PEG-PLL block copolymer and both plasmid DNA and siRNA formed micelles at ~ 100 nm in diameter.⁷ It was noted that this size was good for blood circulation and had effective accumulation in solid tumors.⁷ Thus, the micelles formed in this study are also within the size of interest for drug delivery applications.

Additionally, Kataoka et al. investigated different ratios of DNA and PLL, ranging from 1:2 to 1:5, resulting in decreasing micelle diameters from 99.5 nm to 85.0 nm, respectively.¹⁰ Similarly, the long term focus of this study is to alter the block copolymers either by changing the concentration and ratio as done in this Kataoka study or by altering the structure of the block copolymer (see section 6.0).

4.2 FRET shows micelle assembly characteristics

FRET allowed for a comprehensive understanding of the assembly of the micelles with siRNA complexed with a PEG-PLL block copolymer. The natural emission peaks of the Alexa Fluor labelled siRNA molecules when measured were at 620 nm and 670 nm, respectively for siAF594 and siAF647. Alabi et al. conducted two studies utilizing the same siRNA probes, and found the natural emission peaks to be at 620 nm and 690 nm.¹³⁻¹⁴ This is a similar wavelength emission spectrum, and one slight difference could be attributed to difference in measurement reading devices.

The trial utilizing siRNA probes without micelle complexation demonstrated a distinct peak at 620 nm, and an insignificant shoulder at 670 nm. As depicted in the Fig. 1a schematic, the siAF594 and siAF647 were too separated for a donor-acceptor relationship to occur, and thus no FRET. The intensity ratio is relatively small, and close to the control siAF620 due to this separation and no micelle formation. Similarly, when micelles were not formed at the correct charge neutrality, a 1:10 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL instead of a 1:1 ratio, results were almost identical to those of the siRNA probes that were not micellized. This demonstrates the importance of the charge relationship when forming micelle complexes.

Micelles formed at charge neutrality with a 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL demonstrated a FRET interaction where, as depicted in the Fig 1b schematic, the siAF594 donated some of its energy to the siAF647 due to the close proximity within the micelle. The wavelength emission scan demonstrated both an emission peak at 620 nm and a distinct shoulder at 670 nm. This wavelength spectrum is similar to the one obtained by Alabi et al. using the siRNA probes with a b-PEI nanocomplex.¹³ This demonstrates the assembly of the micelles, ability to monitor their characteristics using FRET assay, and the repeatability between previous studies.

4.2.1 Kinetics demonstrate micelle stability

One limitation with using naked siRNA is the short half-life within the body.⁵⁻⁶ By using block copolymers and carrier vehicles, enhanced stability can be achieved. A focus on block copolymer use for this purpose has been seen in previous studies and for example, Zheng et al. has recently studied the long-term kinetics of DNA and oligonucleotides complexed with PLL.²¹ By studying these micelle's over a length of time, an assessment could be determined on their stability or disassembly in a bulk buffer environment.

In the current study, over an approximate 2 hour time period, the intensity ratio of 0.61 remained unchanged in the HEPES bulk condition. Similarly, Alabi et al. performed a kinetic study on the siRNA probes utilized in this study with a lipidoid nanoparticle complexation.¹⁴ When in a bulk buffer condition, the intensity ratio of approximately 0.5-0.6 also remained unchanged over a period of approximately 1 hour.¹⁴ This study also promoted the release of the siRNA probes from the lipidoid NP by altering the bulk buffer condition to an environment that would dissemble the lipidoid particle.¹⁴ When this occurred, the intensity ratio started at a higher value at approximately 2.8 and decreased over the course of approximately 1 hour.¹⁴

Now that we have developed micelles that have assembled, show a FRET response, and are stable in a bulk buffer environment, the future work of this study is to promote the release of siRNA from their micelle encapsulation similar. In the current work, this can be achieved by either manipulating the environmental condition or by altering or adding to the block copolymer structure, with the latter being more universally applicable since it would not rely on a bulk media for release.

5.0 Conclusions

Micelles were formed at charge neutrality with a 1:1 molar ratio of siRNA:PEG-PLL. The charge neutrality was determined based on the number of phosphate groups contained within the siRNA and the number of nitrogen groups with the PLL. This was balanced in order to gain a net neutral charge to promote ideal micellization between the anionic siRNA and cationic PLL. The nonionic PEG unit, with a MW of 20,000 g/mol, was suggested to have the most influence on the size of the molecules and formed a biocompatible outer shell. Micelle formation was confirmed with Dynamic light scattering, which yielded a distinct peak and a size measurement of 70 nm in diameter. This is a size of interest for particles in drug delivery studies.

16

FRET was achieved with the micelles when formed in their charge neutral state. The wavelength spectrum demonstrated the siAF594 was able to donate some of its energy emission to the siAF647 to emit due to their close proximity within the micelle complex. When measured over a time period of \sim 2 hours in a kinetic assay, the micelles proved to be stable with no change in the intensity ratio in their bulk HEPES buffer environment condition.

Micelle stability is an important characteristic for an ideal drug carrier. Naked siRNA has a short half-life in the body and degrades within minutes. By utilizing block copolymers, the assembly was stable for over two hours' time. Future studies will work to control the release of the siRNA while maintaining necessary stability. This balance between controlled release and stability is crucial for achieving ideal transfer of siRNA therapeutics.

6.0 Future Work

Going forward, siRNA release from the micelle should be promoted with the kinetics of this system studied. There are two methods that could be used to achieve this. The first would be to alter the bulk environment of the system in order for the media to promote the release. With this method, the promotion would be reliant on the surrounding conditions, such as pH, temperature, and concentration.

Another approach that is possible with using block copolymers is adding to the PEG-PLL structure. This would also allow for a size dependent study to be conducted. For example, by adding a different block copolymer, such as a PEG-polypropylene glycol (PPG) as an additive, the micelle size would be altered. This would alter the size of the hydrophilic unit. Additionally, this study could also change the size of the hydrophobic part which would also influence both the concentration at which the micelle forms as well as the size. If the hydrophobic part increases in size, then the concentration at which the micelle forms decreases. By investigated these size and

concentration dependent relationships within the micelle complex, a mechanism for micelle assembly and disassembly would be obtained.

References

1. Fire, A.; Xu, S.; Montgomery, M. K.; Kostas, S. A.; Driver, S. E.; Mello, C. C., Potent and Specific Genetic Interference by Double-Stranded Rna in Caenorhabditis Elegans. *nature* **1998**, *391*, 806-811.

2. Burnett, J. C.; Rossi, J. J.; Tiemann, K., Current Progress of Sirna/Shrna Therapeutics in Clinical Trials. *Biotechnology journal* **2011**, *6*, 1130-1146.

3. Kim, J. S.; Oh, M. H.; Park, J. Y.; Park, T. G.; Nam, Y. S., Protein-Resistant, Reductively Dissociable Polyplexes for in Vivo Systemic Delivery and Tumor-Targeting of Sirna. *Biomaterials* **2013**, *34*, 2370-2379.

4. Kanazawa, T.; Morisaki, K.; Suzuki, S.; Takashima, Y., Prolongation of Life in Rats with Malignant Glioma by Intranasal Sirna/Drug Codelivery to the Brain with Cell-Penetrating Peptide-Modified Micelles. *Molecular pharmaceutics* **2014**, *11*, 1471-1478.

5. Mastrobattista, E.; Van Der Aa, M. A.; Hennink, W. E.; Crommelin, D. J., Artificial Viruses: A Nanotechnological Approach to Gene Delivery. *Nature reviews Drug discovery* **2006**, *5*, 115-121.

6. Houk, B. E.; Martin, R.; Hochhaus, G.; Hughes, J. A., Pharmacokinetics of Plasmid DNA in the Rat. *Pharmaceutical research* **2001**, *18*, 67-74.

7. Oba, M., Study on Development of Polymeric Micellar Gene Carrier and Evaluation of Its Functionality. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* **2013**, *36*, 1045-1051.

8. Thorne, B. A.; Takeya, R. K.; Peluso, R. W., Manufacturing Recombinant Adeno-Associated Viral Vectors from Producer Cell Clones. *Human gene therapy* **2009**, *20*, 707-714.

9. Huang, X.; Yang, Y., Innate Immune Recognition of Viruses and Viral Vectors. *Human* gene therapy **2009**, *20*, 293-301.

10. Harada-Shiba, M.; Yamauchi, K.; Harada, A.; Takamisawa, I.; Shimokado, K.; Kataoka, K., Polyion Complex Micelles as Vectors in Gene Therapy-Pharmacokinetics and in Vivo Gene Transfer. *Gene therapy* **2002**, *9*, 407-414.

11. Ogris, M.; Brunner, S.; Schüller, S.; Kircheis, R.; Wagner, E., Pegylated DNA/Transferrin-Pei Complexes: Reduced Interaction with Blood Components, Extended Circulation in Blood and Potential for Systemic Gene Delivery. *Gene therapy* **1999**, *6*, 595-605.

12. Barnaby, S. N.; Lee, A.; Mirkin, C. A., Probing the Inherent Stability of Sirna Immobilized on Nanoparticle Constructs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2014**, *111*, 9739-9744.

13. Alabi, C. A.; Love, K. T.; Sahay, G.; Stutzman, T.; Young, W. T.; Langer, R.; Anderson, D. G., Fret-Labeled Sirna Probes for Tracking Assembly and Disassembly of Sirna Nanocomplexes. *ACS nano* **2012**, *6*, 6133-6141.

 Alabi, C. A.; Sahay, G.; Langer, R.; Anderson, D. G., Development of Sirna-Probes for Studying Intracellular Trafficking of Sirna Nanoparticles. *Integrative Biology* **2013**, *5*, 224-230.
 Dai, Z.; Arévalo, M. T.; Li, J.; Zeng, M., Addition of Poly (Propylene Glycol) to

Multiblock Copolymer to Optimize Sirna Delivery. *Bioengineered* **2014**, *5*, 30-37.

16. Neu, M.; Fischer, D.; Kissel, T., Recent Advances in Rational Gene Transfer Vector Design Based on Poly (Ethylene Imine) and Its Derivatives. *The journal of gene medicine* **2005**, 7, 992-1009.

17. Katayose, S.; Kataoka, K., Water-Soluble Polyion Complex Associates of DNA and Poly (Ethylene Glycol)-Poly (L-Lysine) Block Copolymer. *Bioconjugate chemistry* **1997**, *8*, 702-707.

18. Kakizawa, Y.; Kataoka, K., Block Copolymer Micelles for Delivery of Gene and Related Compounds. *Advanced drug delivery reviews* **2002**, *54*, 203-222.

19. Sergeyev, V.; Pyshkina, O.; Lezov, A.; Mel'nikov, A.; Ryumtsev, E.; Zezin, A.; Kabanov, V., DNA Complexed with Oppositely Charged Amphiphile in Low-Polar Organic Solvents. *Langmuir* **1999**, *15*, 4434-4440.

20. Harada, A.; Kataoka, K., Chain Length Recognition: Core-Shell Supramolecular Assembly from Oppositely Charged Block Copolymers. *Science* **1999**, *283*, 65-67.

21. Zheng, C.; Niu, L.; Pan, W.; Zhou, J.; Lv, H.; Cheng, J.; Liang, D., Long-Term Kinetics of DNA Interacting with Polycations. *Polymer* **2014**, *55*, 2464-2471.

7.0 Supplementary Material

7.1 Micelle Preparation

Component	Initial amount received	Molecular Weight (g/mol)	Initial Mass	Buffer (diluting agent)	Component Amount	Buffer Amount
siAF594	11.5 nmol	13,747	158 ug	Nuclease free duplex buffer	158 ug	1.5 mL
siAF647	7.7 nmol	13,882	107 ug	Nuclease free duplex buffer	107 ug	1 mL
PEG-PLL	100 mg	28,000 (PEG 20,000)	100 mg	HEPES buffer (20 mM)	10 mg	10 mL

Table 2: Supplementary Material Micelle Formation

Table 3: Supplementary	Material Micelle Formation	continued)

Component	Stock Molar Concentration	Individual N/P units	Total N/P units	Desired N/P units for 1:1 ratio	Volume for 1:1 molar ratio	N/P ratio for volume
siAF594	7.7 nmol/mL	42 (siRNA duplex)	323 P units/mL	323 P units/mL	5 ul	1.6 P units
siAF647	7.7 nmol/mL	42 (siRNA duplex)	323 P units/mL	323 P units/mL	5 ul	1.6 P units
PEG-PLL	35.7 nmol/mL	50 (PLL)	1786 N units/mL	646 N units/mL	1.8 ul	3.2 N units

7.2 Micelle Formation Sample Calculations siRNA stock

Alexa594: 11.5 nmol -> 7.7 nmol:

$$\frac{11.5nmol\ siRNA}{1.5\ mL\ buffer} = 7.7\frac{nmol}{mL}$$

Alexa647: 7.7nmol

$$\frac{11.5nmol\ siRNA}{1\ mL\ buffer} = 7.7\frac{nmol}{mL}$$

P units per duplex

Alexa594:

$$7.7 \frac{nmol}{mL} \times 42 \frac{P \text{ units}}{nmol} = 323 \frac{P \text{ units}}{mL}$$

In 5 ul:

 $\frac{323 P units}{1 mL} = \frac{x P units}{0.005 mL}$ P units in 5 ul = 1.6

Alexa647:

$$7.7 \frac{nmol}{mL} \times 42 \frac{P \text{ units}}{nmol} = 323 \frac{P \text{ units}}{mL}$$

In 5 ul:

$$\frac{323 P units}{1 mL} = \frac{x P units}{0.005 mL}$$

$$P units in 5 ul = 1.6$$

Total siRNA P units: 646/ 2 mL

Total siRNA P units for 5 ul = 3.2

PEG-PLL stock

Amount to use: 10 mg

Molecular weight: 28,000 g/mol

$$\frac{10 mg}{28,000,000 \frac{mg}{mol}} = 3.57 \times 10^{-7} \frac{mol}{mL} = 357 \frac{nmoL}{mL}$$

10 mg/10 mL buffer: 35.7 nmol/mL

N units

50 units PLL

$$50 PLL units \times 35.7 \frac{nmol}{mL} = 1786 \frac{N units}{mL}$$

Desired N units for a 1:1 Molar ratio: 3.2 N units

$$\frac{1 mL}{1786 N units} = \frac{(x mL)}{3.2 N units}$$
$$x mL = 0.0018 = 1.8 ul$$

Final Volume Ratio for a 1:1 molar N/P ratio

5 ul siRNA Alexa594

5 ul siRNA Alexa647

1.8 ul PEG-PLL

7.3 Plate Dilution for FRET Assay

Component	Concentration	Needed siRNA concentration	siRNA volume per well (uL)	PEG-PLL volume per well (uL)	Total volume per well (uL)
Micelle	7.7 nmol/mL = 7700 nM siRNA	500 nM	10	1.8	11.8
HEPES	20 mM	-	-	-	138.2

 Table 4: Supplementary Material Preparation in HEPES for FRET